

## University of Tennessee, Knoxville TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange

#### Masters Theses

**Graduate School** 

12-2016

# Beneficial effects of naringenin and indomethacin on white and brown adipocytes

Jamie Ann Kearns University of Tennessee, Knoxville, jkearns1@vols.utk.edu

Follow this and additional works at: https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes

Part of the Molecular, Genetic, and Biochemical Nutrition Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Kearns, Jamie Ann, "Beneficial effects of naringenin and indomethacin on white and brown adipocytes." Master's Thesis, University of Tennessee, 2016. https://trace.tennessee.edu/utk\_gradthes/4265

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. It has been accepted for inclusion in Masters Theses by an authorized administrator of TRACE: Tennessee Research and Creative Exchange. For more information, please contact trace@utk.edu.



To the Graduate Council:

I am submitting herewith a thesis written by Jamie Ann Kearns entitled "Beneficial effects of naringenin and indomethacin on white and brown adipocytes." I have examined the final electronic copy of this thesis for form and content and recommend that it be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science, with a major in Nutrition.

Ling Zhao, Major Professor

We have read this thesis and recommend its acceptance:

Guoxun Chen, Ahmed Bettaieb

Accepted for the Council: Carolyn R. Hodges

Vice Provost and Dean of the Graduate School

(Original signatures are on file with official student records.)



Beneficial effects of naringenin and indomethacin on white and brown adipocytes

A Thesis Presented for the Master of Science Degree The University of Tennessee, Knoxville

> Jamie Ann Kearns December 2016



Copyright © 2016 by Jamie Ann Kearns All rights reserved.



#### **DEDICATION**

To my late mother, Sheila Simpson Kearns, who instilled in me the importance of education. To my sister and brother-in-law, Jessica and Ben Puffer who have encouraged and supported me through every step.



#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I'd like to thank my advisor Dr. Zhao for sharing with me her experience, expertise and time. Thank you to my committee members Dr. Chen and Dr. Bettaieb for their guidance. Additionally, I would like to thank my fellow lab and classmates for your support, Haley Overby, Megan Johnstone, Matt Goff and the Dietetic Intern class.



#### ABSTRACT

As obesity continues to grow and medical costs in the United States are estimated at \$147 billion annually, novel ways to prevent and treat obesity are needed. One approach is to promote thermogenesis to improve energy balance by increasing the activities of thermogenic brown and beige adipocytes.

Naringenin, a citrus flavanone, has been shown to act as anti-inflammatory and lipid lowering agent as well as activate PPARgamma. However, it is unclear whether it can activate thermogenic activity in white adipocytes, i.e., promote formation of beige adipocytes. Indomethacin (INDO) is an FDA approved drug used to treat pain related to inflammation by inhibiting cyclooxygenase (COX). It has been demonstrated that INDO is a PPARgamma agonist and is protective against weight gain in mice fed a high fat and high sucrose diet. Whether INDO independently induces brown adipocyte differentiation has not been studied.

In this thesis, I investigated the effect of naringenin combined with isoproterenol, a betaadrenergic receptor agonist on thermogenic activation of a common white adipocyte cell line, 3T3-L1. In addition, I investigated whether INDO induces brown adipocyte differentiation. 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated into mature adipocytes with a standard differentiation cocktail in the presence of naringenin and then stimulated with isoproterenol. While naringenin had little effect at the basal level, it significantly increased mRNA and protein expression of UCP-1 and PGC-1alpha, browning marker genes. Moreover, naringenin increased mitochondrial DNA, which is indicative of increased mitochondrial biogenesis. The results suggest that in addition to increased UCP-1 expression, naringenin can promote up regulation of PGC-1alpha, leading to increased mitochondrial biogenesis in thermogenic activation of 3T3-L1.



www.manaraa.com

V

To study the effects of INDO on brown adipocyte differentiation I differentiated brown preadipocytes in the presence of increasing doses of INDO using a modified differentiation protocol. INDO dose-dependently increased lipid accumulation and mRNA expression of brown specific marker genes PGC-1alpha, UCP-1 and PRDM16. Protein expression of PGC-1alpha and UCP-1 was confirmed by western analysis. Consistently, INDO dose-dependently increased mitochondrial biogenesis. Mechanistically, INDO increased PPAR responsive promoter activities. These results suggest that INDO may promote brown adipogenesis through activation of PPARgamma.



www.manaraa.com

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

CHAPTER I Introduction.	1
CHAPTER II Literature Review	4
2.1 Brown Adipose Tissue and Browning: Novel Targets for Intervention	4
2.1.1 Function, anatomic location and discovery in adult humans	5
2.1.2 Cellular origins of brown adipose tissue	5
2.1.3 Uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1) and other key markers of BAT	6
2.2 Browning and Beige Adipocytes	7
2.2.1 Function, origin and markers	7
2.2.2 Common cell models of browning	9
2.2.3 Stimuli and known browning agents	10
2.3 Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Gamma Co-activator-1alpha	11
2.3.1 PGC-1alpha activation and modification	12
2.3.2 PGC-1alpha promotes mitochondrial biogenesis	13
2.4 Overview of Naringenin	14
2.4.1 Structure dietary sources and metabolism	14
2.4.2 Plasma levels in humans	15
2.4.3 Known beneficial effects of naringenin: cell, animal and human studies	15
2.5 Overview of Indomethacin	17
CHAPTER III Naringenin promotes Up Regulation of PGC-1alpha in Thermogenic Activati	on
of 3T3-L1 Cells	18
3.1 Introduction	18
3.2 Materials and Methods	19
3.3 Results	21
3.4 Discussion and Conclusions	23
CHAPTER IV Indomethacin Promotes Brown Adipocytes Differentiation	26
4.1 Introduction	26
4.2 Materials and Methods	27
4.3 Results	29
4.4 Discussion and Conclusions	31
LIST OF REFERENCES	33
APPENDIX	41
VITA	51



### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Effect of naringenin on mRNA expression of thermogenic, beige and brown markers	5
with and without isoproterenol stimulation	42
Figure 2. Effect of naringenin on PGC-1a and UCP-1 protein expression	45
Figure 3. Naringenin increases the ratio of mitochondrial DNA marker CoxII over 18S	
DNA	.46
Figure 4. Indomethacin dose-dependently induces brown adipocyte differentiation	47
Figure 5. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases mRNA expression of brown adipocyte	
marker genes	.48
Figure 6. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases PGC-1a and UCP-1 protein expression	.49
Figure 7. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases ratio of mitochondrial DNA marker CoxII	[
over18s DNA	50
Figure 8. Indomethacin activates PPRE-Luc luciferase activity in brown preadipocytes	.50



#### CHAPTER I INTRODUCTION

A major health issue in the United States (US) is obesity. One-third of US adults, totaling 78.6 million, are obese.<sup>1</sup> Children are also experiencing this disease with childhood obesity affecting 17% of individuals 2-19 years of age.<sup>2</sup> The estimated cost of adult obesity is 147 billion dollars annually. An obese individual costs an additional \$1,429 in healthcare each year. This is due to the complications of obesity that include; type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular disease, hypertension, dyslipidemia and certain cancers. Many factors contribute to obesity such as environment, genetics, diet, behaviors, socioeconomic status and particular illnesses. All of these factors contribute to positive energy balance, that creates excess adiposity.<sup>1</sup>

Adipose tissue includes white, brown and beige phenotypes. White adipose tissue (WAT), the primary site of energy storage within the body, is composed of mostly triglycerides, up to 85%,<sup>3</sup> and has been an evolving topic of interest for research due to its endocrine contributions and its role in systemic inflammation.

The second type of adipose tissue is brown adipose tissue (BAT), whose main function is non-shivering thermogenesis in addition to lipid storage. The non-shivering thermogenic function of BAT is due primarily to the expression of the unique protein uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1).<sup>3</sup> It was originally assumed that BAT was exclusively present in neonates. The recent discovery of BAT in human adults along with its ability to increase non-shivering thermogenesis has made BAT a novel target for obesity treatment and prevention.<sup>4-6</sup>

A third adipose cell phenotype is beige, which is thought to be derived from WAT adipose depots and can be induced to express UCP-1 for increased thermogenic activity. Much



www.manaraa.com

interest has been sparked in this area of research as it may lead to novel strategies to combat obesity and its related diseases.<sup>7</sup>

Peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma coactivator- 1 alpha (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ) is a transcription factor coactivator that is known for its function in regulating mitochondria biogenesis and oxidative metabolism.<sup>8</sup> PGC-1 $\alpha$  acts to coactivate peroxisome proliferator activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ) that binds at the PPRE site of various adipogenic genes to promote transcription, including those related to differentiation and that of the UCP-1 promoter. PGC-1 $\alpha$  is important in cellular metabolism and is regulated by other important signals such as increased cAMP,<sup>9</sup> p38MAPK phosphorylation,<sup>10</sup> and SIRT1 deacetylation.<sup>11</sup> Due to its role in metabolism, it may be beneficial target to increase thermogenesis in adipocytes.

Several compounds including nutrients and pharmaceuticals are being investigated for their potential to influence cellular targets for obesity treatment and prevention. Polyphenols have become more popular in research as they have been reported to exert a variety of beneficial effects on metabolism and health.<sup>12</sup> Naringenin a member of the flavanone class of polyphenols has been shown to improve lipid metabolism and adiposity in animal models.<sup>13</sup> Furthermore, it has been shown to be a PPAR $\gamma$  agonist in hepatic cells.<sup>14</sup> However, it is not clear whether naringenin can induce thermogenic activation in white adipocytes or what role PGC-1 $\alpha$ 

In addition to using nutrient based strategies to target thermogenesis for obesity, pharmaceutical agents are also studied. Indomethacin is a non-selective cyclooxygenase (COX) inhibitor used in the treatment of pain and inflammation.<sup>15</sup> It has been shown to promote adipogenesis and is protective against high fat/high sucrose diet induced obesity in mice.<sup>16</sup> However, the mechanism that exerts its effects on brown adipocytes is not clear. Additionally it



www.manaraa.com

is unknown whether INDO can induce differentiation of brown adipocytes independent of other inducers in a typical differentiation cocktail<sup>17</sup> (i.e. dexamethasone and IBMX).

Both naringenin and INDO have been shown to be PPAR $\gamma$  agonists. Rosiglitazone, a known PPAR $\gamma$  agonist and browning agent, has been shown to promote thermogenic activation in 3T3-L1 cells. PPAR $\gamma$  increases differentiation and this process in brown adipocytes may be applied to increased BAT mass in vivo. We hypothesize that naringenin will promote thermogenic activity with a phenotype similar to that of rosiglitazone and that INDO will promote brown adipocyte differentiation through PPAR $\gamma$  activation. To fill the knowledge gap, the objective of this thesis is to study the effects of both naringenin and INDO on browning and brown adipocyte differentiation respectively. Specifically we aim to study the beneficial effects of naringenin on PGC-1 $\alpha$  in thermogenic activation of 3T3-L1 cells. For INDO, we aim to determine if INDO can promote brown adipocyte differentiation gam adipocyte differentiation protocol. The results presented add to our understanding of nutrient and pharmacological regulation of adipose tissue and suggest great potential of naringenin and INDO in obesity treatments and prevention.



#### CHAPTER II LITERATURE REVIEW

#### 2.1 Brown Adipose Tissue and Browning: Novel Targets for Intervention

#### 2.1.1 Function, anatomic location and discovery in adult humans

Brown adipose tissue (BAT) is a distinct tissue type in the body. It was originally accepted that BAT was only present in neonates and there was a rapid regress afterwards.<sup>18</sup> Evidence of BAT in adult humans was found utilizing fluoro-deoxyglucose (FDG) positron emission tomography (PET) and X-ray computed tomography (CT). This showed increased 2-deoxyglucose uptakes during cold stimulation in the supraclavicular and paraspinal regions. The presence of BAT was correlated with younger age and lower BMI. <sup>5</sup> A study using the same scanning technique and larger sample size found similar results and a higher mass of BAT in women.<sup>4</sup> These studies confirm the presence of active BAT in humans, and suggest that BAT could be a novel target for obesity treatment and prevention.

BAT is estimated to compose 0.05%- 0.1% of total body weight in an adult human compared to 5-10% in mice and 2-5% in human infants.<sup>19</sup> The tissue is highly innervated with sympathetic nerves, which is the major activator for brown cell thermogenic activity.<sup>20</sup> BAT is highly vascularized, allowing for access to circulating glucose and lipids as well as distributing heat produced by thermogenesis.<sup>3</sup>

Recruitment and activation of BAT is due to stimulation of the sympathetic nervous system and the release of norepinephrine that activates  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors expressed on the cell surface. This leads to the mobilization of triglycerides from all adipose tissues to increase energy availability that can be utilized for thermogenesis.<sup>3</sup> Norepinephrine activation of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptors has been shown to stimulate thermogenesis in BAT as well as increase cell growth and differentiation.<sup>3, 21, 22</sup>



#### 2.1.2 Cellular origins of brown adipose tissue

Like white adipocytes, brown adipocytes are derived from mesenchymal stem cells. Conventional brown cells are from a Myf5+ precursor cell whereas white cells are from Myf5precursor cells. Brown adipose cells arising from the Myf5+ precursor have a closer relation to myocytes rather than a white adipocytes.<sup>23</sup> It was found in brown preadipocytes, on day 1 of differentiation that myogenin, a protein found in skeletal muscle, was transiently expressed then declined during the course of adipocyte differentiation; this was not found in white adipocytes.<sup>24</sup>

However, both types of adipocytes utilize many common transcriptional factors for complete differentiation. Since both types of adipose accumulate lipids during the differentiation process it has been shown that 72% of the genes up regulated and 52% that are down regulated are similar between the two types.<sup>24</sup> In contrast, brown adipocytes up regulated about 100 genes that are related to mitochondria.<sup>24</sup> Brown cells contain multilocular lipid droplets and more mitochondria compared to WAT, that contain unilocular lipids with fewer mitochondria.<sup>21</sup>

Another related cell type is called "beige" adipocytes. There are various hypotheses about the origin of these cells. It is disputed whether they have unique precursors or if they are from transdifferentiation from white adipocytes. Transdifferentiation has not been proven false but studies have isolated pre beige cells that have different marker expression than those of white preadipocytes.<sup>25</sup> Beige cells are localized inside WAT depots but they can be induced to appear and function as brown like cells, i.e. with increased mitochondrial content and UCP1 expression. This phenomenon is called "browning".<sup>21, 26</sup>

#### 2.1.3 Uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1) and other key markers of brown adipocytes

A major identifying protein for brown adipocytes is uncoupling protein 1 (UCP-1). Respiration is uncoupled from ATP synthesis by the UCP-1 protein, which makes the inner



mitochondrial membrane more permeable to protons, thus lowering the proton gradient created by the electron transport chain, preventing the synthesis of chemical energy (in the form of ATP). Five different uncoupling proteins have been identified; however, UCP-1 is specific to adipose tissue and its function is the best understood.<sup>22</sup>

Wild type and UCP-1 knockout mice were given a  $\beta_3$ -andrenergic receptor agonist (CL-316, 243) to determine the effect of  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor activation on UCP-1. The wild type mice had an increase in oxygen consumption with decreased lipid levels after administration of the  $\beta$ -adrenergic agonist. The UCP-1 knockout mice did not experience these changes.<sup>27</sup> These results point to the importance of UCP-1 in the increased thermogenesis from the stimulation of  $\beta_3$ -adrenergic receptors in BAT from the SNS.

The UCP-1 gene shares a common structure between mice, rats and humans near the transcriptional start site as well as a conserved upstream enhancer. UCP-1 promoter contains multiple binding sites that allow for the action of PPARs, retinoids, and thyroid hormones. UCP-1 transcription is mainly activated by norepinephrine released from the nervous system to activate  $\beta_3$ -andrenergic receptors and its downstream pathways.<sup>28, 29</sup>

A transcription factor highly specific to adipocytes is peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPAR $\gamma$ ). This transcription factor is the key regulator in the differentiation and maintenance of both white and brown adipocytes. Low levels of PPAR $\gamma$  are present in preadipocytes and are increased to peak at the beginning of differentiation.<sup>30</sup> The essential role of PPAR $\gamma$  is evidenced by an in vitro study where cells derived from embryonic stem cells were used to make a PPAR $\gamma$  knockout. It was found that knock out cells did not differentiate while the wild type did.<sup>31</sup>



Rosiglitazone is a known anti-diabetic drug that has been shown to decrease circulating lipid levels and act as PPAR $\gamma$  agonists.<sup>32</sup> When administered in mice a marked increase in UCP-1 expression in both lean and obese mice was seen. These results point towards the link between the activation of PPAR $\gamma$  and UCP-1 expression.<sup>33</sup> This is due to PPAR $\gamma$  activity binding to the PPRE site of the UCP-1 promoter to increase transcription.<sup>28</sup> At this site is where PGC-1 $\alpha$  (peroxisome proliferator activated receptor  $\gamma$  coactivator- 1 $\alpha$ ) coactivates PPAR $\gamma$  to help drive UCP-1 expression.<sup>34</sup>

A protein specific to brown adipocytes important for the differentiation of the Myf5+ precursor is PR domain-containing protein-16 (PRDM16).<sup>35</sup> An experiment with knockdown of PRDM16 in primary brown fat cells led to myogenesis and decreased expression of UCP-1, PCG-1 $\alpha$  and other brown fat identifiers.<sup>35, 36</sup> In addition increased PRDM16 expression in myoblasts promoted adipogenesis leading to mature brown adipocytes, which may result from an increase in PPAR $\gamma$  and UCP-1 expression. PRDM16 has been shown to bind to PCG-1 $\alpha$ , PPAR $\alpha^{37}$ , PPAR $\gamma$  and members of the C/EBP family to enhance their action as DNA-binding transcription factors and coactivators.<sup>38</sup> Seale and colleagues proposed that a major action of PRDM16 was through its interaction with PPAR $\gamma^{35}$  and it was also shown that PPAR $\gamma$  agonist (rosiglitazone) stabilized PRDM16 in white adipocytes to promote browning.<sup>39</sup>

#### 2.2 Browning and Beige Adipocytes

#### 2.2.1 Function, origin, and markers

Beige adipocytes are of interest as they can be found in WAT depots but are active in thermogenic uncoupling, contributing to energy expenditure. While beige adipocytes have been studied and found to have a variety of origins, they are a therapeutic target for obesity and other



metabolic diseases.<sup>40</sup> In animal studies, the presence of beige cells in classical WAT depots has shown to be effective in protecting against diet-induced obesity.

Some markers have been tested for the identification of beige adipocytes. However, the literature varies in what parameters define a beige adipocyte. Many publications rely on the increased expression of brown fat cell markers such as UCP-1, and increased energy expenditure along with a white fat origin to define a beige adipocyte. However, beige cells still express UCP-1 at a lower level than classical brown adipocytes. Studies seeking to determine markers that are exclusive to beige cells have identified CD137, Tmem26 and HoxC9.<sup>41</sup> A study comparing expression of markers in different adipose tissue depots and cell culture of primary adipocytes found that Tmem26 and CD137 were reliable markers in tissue but were less specific when primary cells were isolated from the tissue and cultured. Cells cultured with rosiglitazone and norepinephrine expressed decreased Tmem26 whereas CD137 was increased. This study also measured HoxC9 and found that it did not distinguish between beige and white adipocytes; however, it did distinguish white and beige cells from brown indicating HoxC9 is able to differentiate the depot of origin.<sup>42</sup> Another study comparing inguinal WAT as well as primary cells from the stromal vascular (SVF) and the adipocyte fraction showed that Tmem26 decreased when differentiated into beige cells. In contrast, CD137 increased with differentiation to a beige adipocyte in vitro.<sup>43</sup> Together these studies indicate that these beige markers may be more specific to the precursor beige cells in the tissue rather than fully differentiated cells.

Zic1 and Meox-2 are brown adipose markers.<sup>24, 36</sup> In beige cells; Petrovic and coauthors found that these two markers were not detectable even when PGC-1 $\alpha$  and UCP-1 expression was increased.<sup>44</sup> There is variation in expression of white, brown and beige marker genes between



cell lines, animal studies, and human derived cells. Therefore, it is unclear which are the best markers to be used that are consistent among cell culture, animals, and humans.<sup>41</sup>

#### 2.2.2 Common cell models of browning

3T3-L1 cells are the most widely used cell line for studying adipose and were utilized in 392 publications in the last five years comparing to other cell lines that have been used less than 15 each.<sup>45</sup> The 3T3-L1 cell line is derived from mouse embryos of Swiss 3T3 mice at 17 to 19 days of development. They are preadipocytes that appear like fibroblasts and can be differentiated into mature adipocytes.<sup>46</sup> They are frequently used due to their low cost and ease of use compared to primary cells. However, they can be difficult to transfect and lose the ability to differentiate after several passages.<sup>47</sup>

3T3-L1 cells have been shown to express higher levels of UCP-1 when treated with Rosiglitazone, IBMX, and T3.<sup>48</sup> Isoproterenol is a potent, but nonspecific,  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor activator that can induce expression of beige and brown related genes in 3T3-L1 cells. Treatments after 6 or 48 hours increased expression of UCP-1, PRDM16 and CD137 and increased uncoupling.<sup>49</sup>

In contrast, to the cell line, primary cultures from the stromal vascular region (SVF) are also used as a model in studies related to adipose tissue cell differentiation process. Unlike other cell types, these preadipocytes are more committed and can only be differentiated into adipocytes. Primary adipocytes may also have more characteristics related to the depot of origin compared to cell lines, providing more information about the differences in cell origin.<sup>50</sup> Human derived primary cells and cell lines are becoming more available and can be beneficial in confirming results found in cell models of animal origin. In addition, human derived primary



www.manaraa.com

cells can be used to confirm what is known about cell lineages and differences between cell origin related to the fat depot and genetic differences between donors.<sup>51, 52</sup>

#### 2.2.3 Stimuli and known browning agents

Several agents to promote "browning" process have been identified. Similar to BAT, prolonged cold exposure can promote browning in WAT depots that has been shown in vivo. Additionally, many pharmacological inducers of UCP-1 expression in beige cells are  $\beta$ adrenergic agonists such as isoproterenol, CGP-12177, or CL-316243.<sup>49, 53 54</sup> PPAR $\gamma$  ligands such as rosiglitazone, is another well-known inducer of browning. PPAR $\gamma$  agonist activity has been shown to increase mitochondrial biogenesis, mitochondrial gene expression, and increase UCP-1 expression.<sup>44, 55, 56</sup>

Beyond pharmaceuticals, dietary components, such as polyphenols and lipids have been studied in relation to browning. Capsaicin has been shown to promote browning in vitro, and increased browning alongside resistance to HFD-induced obesity in rats.<sup>57, 58</sup> Resveratrol has been shown to increase UCP-1 expression and mitochondrial content in mouse embryonic fibroblasts (MEF) but failed to increase UCP-1 in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.<sup>59</sup> Additionally, omega-3 fatty acids have been shown to increase the expression of PGC-1 $\alpha$ , Nrf (nuclear respiratory factor), and CPT1 (Carnitine palmitoyltransferase 1) with increased beta-oxidation but did not increase UCP-1 in WAT in mice.<sup>60</sup> In rats fed a high fat diet, thermogenesis increased with the addition of omega-3 fatty acids to the lipid composition of the diet.<sup>61</sup>



#### 2.3 Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor γ Co-activator-1a (PGC-1α)

Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor  $\gamma$  co-activator-1a (PGC-1 $\alpha$ ) was identified as a critical part of adaptive thermogenesis in brown adipose tissue as it was found to be increased upon cold exposure. It was identified for its role in co-activating PPAR $\gamma$  by forming a heterodimer with RXR on the UCP-1 promoter region.<sup>34</sup> This led to the interest in studying the interaction with PPAR $\gamma$  in promoting UCP-1 expression and thermogenesis. Further studies reveal many more capacities of PGC-1 $\alpha$ , including mitochondria biogenesis and energy adaptation.<sup>62</sup> PGC-1 $\alpha$  is expressed at the highest levels in tissues that have high rates of oxidative metabolism including liver, kidney, and muscle tissues. In relation to thermogenesis in adipose tissue, in addition to its role in UCP-1 expression, PGC-1 $\alpha$  induces expression of respiratory chain components that are encoded by mitochondrial DNA such as cytochrome oxidase subunits and ATP synthase subunits.<sup>8</sup> A study that generated a PGC-1 $\alpha$ - null brown fat cell line demonstrated that PGC-1 $\alpha$  was required for mitochondrial biogenesis and increased thermogenesis in response to cAMP increases. However, it was not required for the phenotypic differentiation of BAT.<sup>63</sup>

#### 2.3.1 PGC-1a activation and modification

PGC-1 $\alpha$  is activated through  $\beta$ -adrenergic activation via the cAMP dependent pathway. This pathway increases the transcriptional activity of PGC-1 $\alpha$  by increasing the binding of CREB to the PGC-1 $\alpha$  promoter. It was found in hepatic cells that when CREB was virally knocked down the induction of PGC-1 $\alpha$  by a cAMP agonist was lost, leading to the conclusion that PGC-1 $\alpha$  is a direct target of CREB.<sup>64</sup> However, in brown adipocytes p38 MAPK can



increase transcription of PGC-1 $\alpha$  and assists in regulation of the protein through phosphorylation.<sup>9, 10</sup>

PGC-1 $\alpha$  is activated by exercise in skeletal muscle where it contributes to energy adaptations.<sup>65, 66</sup> It is also possible that with exercise an up regulation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  in adipose is part of the associated metabolic improvements.<sup>67</sup> This activation in adipose and muscle cells leads to increased respiration, which is considered positive for prevention of obesity and a potential therapeutic approach. However, p38MAPK phosphorylation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  has been shown to be activated by cytokines and this activation is thought to be a driver of cachexia and muscle wasting that is clinically harmful in disease states such as cancer and trauma.<sup>68</sup>

Posttranslational modifications are important for the regulation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  as it has a half-life of 2.28 hours. Phosphorylation by p38MAPK can triple the half-life allowing for higher PGC-1 $\alpha$  protein expression and increased activity.<sup>68</sup> Deacetylation by SIRT1 is another modification that can increase PGC-1 $\alpha$  activity to help modulate energy status of the cell and inhibition.<sup>11</sup> The variety of modifications lends itself to the differential regulation and activity of PGC-1 $\alpha$  in various tissue types. For example, in the liver deacetylation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  increases the transcription of genes involved in gluconeogenesis but does not increase genes related to the electron transport chain as in adipose tissue. In adipose tissue PGC-1 $\alpha$  increases UCP-1 but not aP2 which are both regulated by PPAR $\gamma$ , indicating greater specificity than coactivating PPAR $\gamma$ .<sup>69</sup>

Several different pathways can also down regulate PGC-1 $\alpha$  activity. RIP140 is a nuclear receptor corepressor that directly binds to PGC-1 $\alpha$  and prevents its binding its downstream targets.<sup>70</sup> When a chemical screen of transient receptor potential vanilloid 4 (TRPV4) agonists is done, there is an increase in PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression, indicating the receptor can regulate expression.



In TRPV4 null mice, there was increased thermogenesis and protection from diet-induced obesity.<sup>71</sup>

#### 2.3.2 PGC-1a promotes mitochondrial biogenesis

Mitochondrial biogenesis is the growth and division of mitochondrial that result in variation in number and size of cellular mitochondria.<sup>72</sup> For its role in mitochondrial biogenesis, PGC-1 $\alpha$  increases the gene expression of Nrf1 and Nrf2. These transcription factors work to promote a portion of mitochondria related genes including cytochrome c subunits by up regulating expression of Tfam. Tfam plays a critical role in its ability to translocate to the mitochondria in order to activate and coordinate mitochondrial DNA replication and transcription. Unlike increases in Nrf or Tfam alone, PGC-1 $\alpha$  also plays a role in oxidative metabolism in skeletal muscle and cardiac muscle, indicating its importance in overall energy regulation.<sup>62</sup>

This pathway is important for regulating the health of mitochondria. Dysfunction of mitochondria has been linked to aging, cancer, Alzheimer's, and diabetes.<sup>72</sup> Several studies have looked at muscle biopsies in humans to understand mitochondria content and insulin resistance. *Morino etal* looked at young lean individuals with insulin resistance that had parents with Type 2 Diabetes. Insulin-mediated glucose update was 60% lower and mitochondrial density was 38% less than controls that had no insulin resistance or history of diabetes.<sup>73</sup> In addition, two other studies found decreases in mitochondrial associated genes including PGC-1 $\alpha$ , Nrf-1 and other downstream oxidative phosphorylation genes in diabetic subjects.<sup>74, 75</sup> Further evidence of PGC-1 $\alpha$  in relation to diabetes is shown by a study that treated mice with the common anti-diabetic drug Metformin and found increases in muscle content of PGC-1 $\alpha$ .<sup>76</sup> All of this points to the



importance of PGC-1 $\alpha$  and how its role in mitochondrial biogenesis and cellular metabolism can be beneficial in fighting against metabolic diseases.

#### 2.4 Overview of Naringenin

#### 2.4.1 Structure, dietary sources, and metabolism

Naringenin has been found to function as an anti-inflammatory and antioxidant agent. It has been shown to be beneficial for hyperlipidemia, hypertension, hyperglycemia, diabetes, atherosclerosis, steatosis, inflammation as well as to be cardiac, and hepatic protective properties.<sup>77-82</sup>

Plant based compounds such as polyphenols are actively researched to understand their beneficial properties in treating various diseases. Naringenin is a flavanone found in citrus fruits grapefruit, oranges and in much smaller amounts in tomatoes and mint.<sup>83</sup> Naringin is the flavanone responsible for the bitter taste and when this compound is ingested it is converted by gut microbiota into the aglycone form; naringenin.<sup>84</sup> When ingested in the aglycone form, naringenin is readily absorbed in the small intestine although the transporter has not been identified. Once absorbed, naringenin is then metabolized in the liver through methylation, sulfation and glucuronidation. The aglycone form in the blood is typically low after ingested at doses found in foods that contain naringenin. Even though the aglycone form is more efficiently absorbed in the small intestine, the glucuronides are found at the highest concentration in the blood. Polyphenols in general can be transported in circulation bound to albumin. However, it remains unclear where polyphenols accumulate within the body. Their excretion of polyphenols, especially flavanones, is through urine output but can also be excreted via the biliary route.



Additionally, absorption can vary related to individual differences in anatomy as well as dietary components present in the gastrointestinal tract with naringenin.<sup>83</sup>

#### 2.4.2 Plasma levels of naringenin in humans

U.S. adults are estimated to consume about 189 mg/day of flavonoids with 14mg of them consisting of flavanones mostly from citrus fruit juice intake.<sup>85</sup> Absorption and metabolism of naringenin varies between individuals and studies of plasma concentrations are ongoing. Estimation of intake is difficult due to the numerous variations in the content of foods, which is related to diverse growing conditions, storage, processing, and preparation.<sup>83</sup>

In one study, participants consumed either orange juice or grapefruit juice that had concentrations of naringenin of 151 and 1283  $\mu$ M respectively. The peak plasma concentrations of naringenin were  $0.6 \pm 0.4 \mu$ M from orange juice and  $6.0 \pm 5.4 \mu$ M from grapefruit juice.<sup>86</sup> In a separate study, participants received 135 mg of naringenin, resulting in peak plasma concentrations ranging from 4.12 to 11.03  $\mu$ M.<sup>87</sup> These studies show that naringenin levels vary by source, dose, and the individual differences and a level of 10  $\mu$ M is physiologically achievable.

#### 2.4.3 Assessment of the beneficial effects of naringenin: cell, animal, and human studies

Harmon and colleagues studied the effects of naringenin on proliferation of cultured 3T3-L1 cells. Proliferation of 3T3-L1 cells was inhibited by naringenin in a time and dose dependent manner, Naringenin also caused an increased lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) release from the cells at 100ug/mL, indicative of cytotoxic effects of naringenin at this level.<sup>88</sup> Therefore, it is important to use physiologically achievable doses.



Naringenin has been shown to be an agonist of PPAR $\alpha$  and PPAR $\gamma$ . Concentrations of naringenin used ranged from 0 to 240  $\mu$ M.<sup>14</sup> As noted above, PGC-1 $\alpha$  is increased with cold stimulus increasing its ability to coactivate PPAR $\gamma$  at the UCP-1 promoter. NIH 3T3 cells were transfected with plasmids for PPAR $\gamma$ -Gal4 and Gal4- luciferase with naringenin for 24 hours. Naringenin dose dependently increased the luciferase activity, indicative of PPAR $\gamma$  activation.<sup>89</sup>

Rats fed a diet that contained 0.003, 0.006, or 0.012% naringenin for 6 weeks found significant reduction of triglycerides in adipose and liver tissue.<sup>79</sup>

Several animal studies using various mouse strains on diets containing naringenin reported reduced weight gain compared to the control diet. Ldlr-/- mice fed a high fat<sup>90</sup> or high cholesterol<sup>78</sup> diet that included 3% naringenin exhibited decreased adipocyte hypertrophy and resistance to diet induced weight gain than those that were not given naringenin. Three separate but similar studies utilized C57BL/6 mice that were fed a HFD<sup>77</sup> or ovariectomized<sup>91</sup> or that were ovariectomized and fed a HFD.<sup>92</sup> Out of the groups fed naringenin, ovariectomized and high fat diet mice saw reduced weight gain while all three studies had decreased intra-abdominal adiposity. This shows promising effects that naringenin may be able to treat obesity.

Further demonstrating the beneficial potential of naringenin for obesity treatment, some human studies have been completed. Two studies had participants consume one-half of a grapefruit or the equivalent amount of grapefruit juice before meals. In one study, overweight adults followed this regime for 6 weeks. Participants had decreased waist circumference but no significant weight loss.<sup>93</sup> Obese participants with metabolic syndrome that followed the same regime for 12 weeks in a randomized, double blinded study design, had a weight loss of 1.6kg and 1.5 kg (whole fruit vs. juice respectively).<sup>94</sup>



#### 2.5 Overview of Indomethacin

Indomethacin (INDO) was discovered as a non steroid anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) in 1963 to treat joint swelling from rheumatoid arthritis.<sup>15</sup> It works as a nonselective COX inhibitor for both COX1 and COX2. COX enzymes catalyze the rate limiting reaction that converts arachidonic acid and other omega-6 fatty acids to prostaglandins.<sup>95</sup> Since then, it is used for treatment of various conditions related to inflammation.

An in vivo study in mice demonstrated that INDO treatment was protective against a high sucrose and high fat diet-induced obesity and decreased insulin sensitivity. However, INDO treated mice showed increased hepatic glucose output and glucose intolerance.<sup>96</sup> It was reported that INDO promoted adipocyte differentiation in 3T3-L1 cells.<sup>97</sup> In recent years, INDO is often used for brown preadipocyte differentiation. One study reported INDO activated PPAR $\gamma$  and PPAR $\alpha$ .<sup>98</sup> Interestingly, recent studies have reported that COX2, a rate-limiting enzyme in prostaglandin (PG) synthesis, is a downstream mediator of  $\beta$ -adrenergic signaling in WAT and is involved in induction of UCP1 expression in inguinal white adipocytes, but not in classic interscapular brown adipocytes.<sup>99</sup> This suggests that prostaglandin synthesis inhibited by INDO may not be required for classical brown adipogenesis but it may play a role in beige cell formation due to prostaglandins being a PPAR $\gamma$  ligand.<sup>101</sup> Further research to better characterize INDO's effects and mechanisms are warranted.



www.manaraa.com

#### CHAPTER III NARINGENIN PROMOTES UP-REGULATION OF PGC-1ALPHA IN THERMOGENIC ACTIVATION OF 3T3-L1

#### **3.1. Introduction**

Obesity continues to be a health problem in the US and is growing across the globe. Complications from the disease lead to increased health costs and decreases in quality of life for many.<sup>102</sup> White and brown adipose tissues are responsible for energy storage and adaptive thermogenesis, respectively. Inducible thermogenesis is of interest to increase overall energy expenditure to fight obesity.<sup>3</sup> Beige adipocytes are found in white adipose depots and are inducible to express UCP-1 for active thermogenesis.<sup>25</sup> These cells can respond to similar stimuli as brown adipocytes such as cold, hormones, and some pharmacological agents to take on a brown-like phenotype, this process is called browning.<sup>103</sup>

Naringenin is a citrus flavanone that has been shown to have beneficial health effects. It is found at the highest levels in grapefruit.<sup>83</sup> Positive effects on lipid metabolism, inflammation and resistance to diet-induced weight gain by naringenin have been demonstrated.<sup>82</sup> In mice, it has been shown that naringenin is protective against increased weight gain induced by a high fat or high cholesterol diet and in a similar study the levels of triglycerides were improved by naringenin.<sup>78, 90, 92</sup> In vitro naringenin has been shown to be a PPARγ agonist.<sup>14</sup> PPARγ can bind to the PPRE site on the UCP-1 promoter and is coactivated by PGC-1α.<sup>28</sup> Pharmacological PPARγ agonist rosiglitazone promotes browning in WAT cultures, leading to up regulation of UCP-1 and thermogenesis.<sup>55, 104</sup> However, it is unclear whether naringenin can promote the browning effect and what cellular mechanisms drive its beneficial effects.

As a coactivator for PPAR $\gamma$  and other transcription factors, PGC-1 $\alpha$  is important in brown adipose tissue function and plays an important role in UCP-1 transcription, mitochondrial



biogenesis and oxidative metabolism.<sup>62</sup> We aim to study whether naringenin can increase browning and up regulate PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression. We utilized 3T3-L1 adipocytes differentiated in the presence of varying physiologically achievable doses of naringenin and then stimulated cells with isoproterenol, a  $\beta$ -adrenergic receptor agonist.

#### **3.2.** Materials and Methods

#### 3.2.1 Reagents

Murine 3T3-L1 cells were obtained from ATCC (Manassas, VA). Naringenin, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO), 3-Isobutyl-L-methylxanthine, dexamethasone, insulin, isoproterenol (ISO), and rosiglitazone (Rosi) were from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Calf serum (CS) was purchased from Hyclone (Logan, UT) and fetal bovine serum (FBS) was purchased from Atlanta Biologicals (Flowery Branch, GA). UCP-1 antibody was purchased from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), PGC-1α from Millipore (Temecula, CA), ERK1/2 antibody, and horseradish peroxidase-conjugated goat anti-rabbit were from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA).

#### 3.2.2 Cell culture and treatment

Murine 3T3-L1 cells were cultured in DMEM supplemented with 10% CS and 1% penicillin and streptomycin at 37°C humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> until they reached confluence [designated as day 0 (D0)]. The cells were differentiated in DMEM containing 10% FBS, 1 µM dexamethasone, 0.5 mM, 5µM 3-isobutyl-1-methylxanthine (IBMX) and 10 µg/mL insulin for 3 days (D0-D3), followed by treatment with 10 µg/mL insulin in DMEM containing 10% FBS for an additional 2 days (D3-D5). The cells were then maintained in DMEM containing 10% FBS until fully differentiated at day 7 (D7). Naringenin doses 5, 10, 20 µM at start of differentiation and replaced with each media change. Rosi (1 µM) was used as a positive



control. On D7, the cells were stimulated with Isoproterenol (ISO, 1  $\mu$ M) or the vehicle control for 6 h for RNA or 24 h for protein samples.

#### 3.2.3 Western blot analysis

Total cell lysates were prepared using 1X RIPA buffer (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) and protein concentration were determined by the BCA assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Total cell lysates were subjected to 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The membrane was blocked in 20 mM Tris Base, 137 mM NaCl, and 0.1% Tween 20 (pH 7.4) containing 5% nonfat milk. The membrane was immunoblotted with primary antibodies at 4°C overnight followed by secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase for 1 h. Proteins were visualized using ECL western blot detection reagents (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Pixel intensities of immunoreactive bands were quantified using ChemiDocXRS+ imaging system with ImageLab software (Bio-Rad).

#### 3.2.4 RNA, DNA preparation and semi-quantitative real-time PCR analysis

Total RNA was prepared using TRI reagent (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA abundance was quantified using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Reverse transcription was carried out using High capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Thermo Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. mRNA expression of target genes and the housekeeping gene 36B4 was measured semi-quantitatively using Power Up SYBR master mix (Applied Biosystems, Austin TX). PCR reactions were run in a 96-well format using an ABI 7300HT instrument. Cycle conditions were 50°C 2 min, 95°C 10 min and



then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min. Relative gene expression was calculated using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method, which normalizes with house keeping gene 36B4.

DNA was prepared using TRI reagent (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH) according to the manufacturer's instructions and total DNA concentration was quantified using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). COX II as well as 18S control gene were measured semi-quantitatively using Power Up SYBR master mix (Applied Biosystems, Austin TX). PCR reactions were run in a 96-well format using an ABI 7300HT instrument. Cycle conditions were  $50^{\circ}$ C 2 min,  $95^{\circ}$ C 10 min and then 40 cycles of  $95^{\circ}$ C for 15 s,  $60^{\circ}$ C for 1 min. Relative DNA content was calculated using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method, which normalizes with 18s ribosomal DNA.

#### **3.2.5 Statistical analysis**

Data for mRNA and DNA experiments are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Measurements were performed in triplicates. Statistical analysis was performed using SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat Software). One-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons test (Student-Newman-Keuls method) was performed to determine the differences of group mean between the treatment groups. The level of significance was set at *P*<0.05.

#### **3.3 Results**

# 3.3.1 Naringenin dose-dependently increases PGC-1α mRNA in isoproterenol stimulated 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

To demonstrate the effects of naringenin on white adipocytes, 3T3-L1 preadipocytes were differentiated in the presence or absence of naringenin (5, 10, 20  $\mu$ M) for 7 days and then stimulated with isoproterenol (ISO) or the vehicle control for 6 hours to induce thermogenic



activation. Rosiglitazone was included as a positive control. At basal (non-ISO stimulated) conditions, thermogenic markers PGC-1 $\alpha$  and UCP-1 were not increased by naringenin (Fig. 1A). However, under ISO stimulation naringenin dose-dependently increased UCP-1 and PGC-1 $\alpha$  mRNA (p<0.05) (Fig. 1B). PPAR $\gamma$  showed no significant differences among naringenin doses, suggesting no differences in differentiation among treatments. Mitochondrial marker Nrf-1 and Tfam showed modest increases that were not significant under basal conditions. Under ISO stimulation, Nrf-1 was significantly increased by naringenin at 10  $\mu$ M. SIRT1 had no significant differences for naringenin treatments under basal or ISO stimulated conditions.

Beige markers Tmem26 and CD137 showed no significant differences among naringenin treatments under basal conditions. However, Tmem26 was significantly decreased by naringenin under ISO stimulated conditions. No differences were shown in CD137 mRNA levels by naringenin. Brown adipocyte marker Meox-2 was significantly increased under basal conditions by naringenin at 5 and 10  $\mu$ M; however, Meox-2 was significantly decreased when cells were stimulated by ISO with the exception of the positive control Rosi, which was increased by ISO (Fig. 1B).

# 3.3.2 Naringenin dose-dependently enhances UCP-1 and PGC-1α protein expression in ISO-stimulated 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

To determine if the increases in PGC-1 $\alpha$  and UCP-1 mRNA lead to increases in protein expression we collected protein samples in a parallel experiment. 3T3-L1 cells were differentiated for 7 days with naringenin (5, 10, 20  $\mu$ M) and then stimulated with or without ISO for 24 hours. Dose-dependent increases were seen under both basal and ISO stimulated conditions (Fig 2).



# 3.3.3 Naringenin increases the ratio of mitochondrial COXII/ nuclear 18S DNA in 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

To provide further evidence for naringenin's effects on PGC-1 $\alpha$ , we compared mitochondrial DNA to the nuclear DNA by measuring a ratio of COX II (cytochrome c oxidase subunit II, a mitochondrial DNA coded gene) over 18S, (a nuclear DNA coded gene). At basal conditions, naringenin dose-dependently increased the ratio of COXII/18S and reached significance when used at 20  $\mu$ M (p<0.05). As expected, the positive control Rosi significantly increased COXII/18S (p<0.01). (Fig. 3). This is indicative of increased mitochondrial DNA copy number and therefore increased mitochondrial biogenesis.

#### **3.4 Discussion and Conclusions**

Targeting beige adipocytes to increase thermogenesis and energy expenditure is a novel approach for obesity treatment and prevention. <sup>25, 105</sup> Naringenin, a citrus flavanone, has been previously shown to have beneficial effects on lipid metabolism and inflammation. We report that naringenin dose-dependently enhanced ISO-stimulated UCP-1 and PGC-1 $\alpha$  mRNA expression. Consistently, naringenin dose-dependently increases UCP-1 and PGC-1 $\alpha$  protein expression under both basal (non-ISO stimulated) and ISO stimulated conditions. Furthermore, at basal condition naringenin at 20  $\mu$ M significantly increased the ratio of COXII/18S. Our study demonstrates that in addition to increased UCP-1 expression, naringenin promotes up regulation of PGC-1 $\alpha$  and mitochondrial biogenesis in thermogenic activation of 3T3-L1 adipocytes.

To our knowledge we are the first to report that naringenin at a physiologically achievable dose, can enhance PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression and increased mitochondrial DNA to nuclear DNA ratio in 3T3-L1 cells. It is conceivable that increased UCP-1expression under the ISO-



stimulated condition by naringenin, may be due to naringenin's ability to up-regulate PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression as it is known that PGC-1 $\alpha$  coactivates PPAR $\gamma$  on the UCP-1 promoter to increase UCP-1 transcription. Consistently, we show naringenin dose-dependently increased mitochondrial DNA as evidenced by the increased ratio of COXII/18S. Taken together, we demonstrate that naringenin promotes up regulation of PGC-1 $\alpha$ , leading to increased mitochondrial biogenesis. These results suggest that naringenin may be beneficial for chronic conditions in which mitochondrial dysfunction is implicated, such as diabetes, endocrine dysfunction and Alzheimer's diseases.<sup>106, 107</sup>

We utilized Rosi, a known browning agent, as a positive control. We show that in addition to increased UCP-1 and PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression, Rosi also significantly increased beige marker CD137 (under ISO-stimulated condition) and a novel brown marker Meox-2 (under both basal and ISO-stimulated conditions). Interestingly, Rosi seemed to suppress rather than to increase Tmem26 mRNA, another known beige marker. Wu etal found that Tmem26 was increased in beige culture except for one human sample, which showed a decrease in Tmem26.<sup>25</sup> However, our finding that Tmem26 was decreased by Rosi treatment was consistent with the findings by deJong and Garcia.<sup>42, 43</sup> While our data does not definitively show a beige phenotype by naringenin treatment, our finding of Tmem26 expression is consistent with other studies in thermogenic activated cells. This discrepancy suggests the need for a better understanding of beige cell origin and beige marker genes.

In conclusion, we have shown that naringenin dose-dependently increases PGC-1 $\alpha$  expression and consequently mitochondrial biogenesis in ISO-stimulated 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Since PGC-1 $\alpha$  is a major regulator of mitochondrial biogenesis and oxidative metabolism, future



studies of naringenin on diabetes, endocrine dysfunction and other chronic diseases in which mitochondrial dysfunction is implicated are warranted.



## CHAPTER IV INDOMETHACIN INDUCES BROWN ADIPOCYTE DIFFERENTIATION

#### 4.1. Introduction

As obesity continues to persist in the US population and across the world, new interventions are needed to treat those currently impacted and prevent further spread of the disease. While lifestyle changes including diet, physical activity and behavior change can be used for treatment, they take a longer duration to implement and show slower improvements. Pharmacological agents that target adipose tissue have been used, but have dwindled due to harmful side effects, such as congestive heart failure by Rosiglitazone.<sup>108</sup> Other weight loss agents, such as the lipase inhibitor Orlistat, lead to undesirable malabsorption of lipids and lipid soluble vitamins.<sup>109</sup> Invasive interventions such as bariatric surgery are used but require major surgery, which can lead to post-surgery complications.

Indomethacin (INDO) is an FDA approved NSAID that is currently used to treat fever, pain and swelling related to inflammation. It acts as a non-selective COX inhibitor to inhibit prostaglandin synthesis.<sup>95</sup> Early research demonstrated that INDO activates PPAR $\gamma$ , a ligandactivated transcription factor playing a critical role in adipogenesis and promoted white adipocyte differentiation of a mesenchymal stem cell line C3H10T1/2.<sup>110</sup> Moreover, supplementation of INDO (HF/HS+INDO) prevented high fat/high sucrose-induced (HF/HS) weight gain, white fat increases and insulin resistance in obesity prone C57BL/6J mice.<sup>16</sup> White and brown differentiation share general characteristics and signaling pathways; therefore, we aim to study INDO on brown adipocyte differentiation. We modified our brown differentiation protocol to include insulin and T<sub>3</sub> but without the induction by dexamethasone and IBMX to decrease the basal differentiation and more clearly delineate INDO's effects.



#### 4.2 Materials and Methods

#### 4.2.1 Reagents

Indomethacin, Insulin, T<sub>3</sub>, rosiglitazone (Rosi), and dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) are from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO). Primary antibodies for UCP-1 were from Sigma Aldrich (St. Louis, MO), PGC-1 $\alpha$  from Millipore (Temecula, CA), ERK1/2 and horseradish peroxidaseconjugated goat anti-rabbit was from Cell Signaling Technology (Danvers, MA).

#### 4.2.2 Cell culture and treatment

The murine brown fat cell line is a gift from Dr. Johannes Klein (University of Lubeck, Lubeck, Germany), who has generated the cell line from interscapular brown fat of newborn C57BL/6 mice (Klein, 2002). Brown fat cells were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (Atlanta Biologicals, Flowery Branch, GA) at 37 °C humidified atmosphere of 5 % CO2 in air, until they reached 100% confluence (designated as day 0). The cells were then induced to differentiate by treatment with differentiation media containing DMEM supplemented with 20% FBS, 1 nM T3, and 20 nM insulin every 2 days until day 4. To study the effects of INDO promoting differentiation in brown adipocytes, INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M) or the vehicle control DMSO was added at D0 and replaced with each change of the media during the differentiation process.

#### 4.2.3 Western blot analysis

Total cell lysates were prepared using 1X lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, Danvers, MA) and protein concentration were determined by the BCA assay kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA). Total cell lysates were subjected to 10% SDS-PAGE and transferred to polyvinylidene difluoride membrane (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA). The membrane was blocked in 20 mM Tris Base, 137 mM



NaCl, and 0.1% Tween 20 (pH 7.4) containing 5% nonfat milk. The membrane was immunoblotted with primary antibodies at 4°C overnight followed by secondary antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase for 1 h. Proteins were visualized using ECL western blot detection reagent (Pierce, Rockford, IL). Pixel intensities of immunoreactive bands were quantified using ChemiDocXRS+ imaging system with ImageLab software (Bio-Rad).

#### 4.2.4 RNA, DNA preparation and semi-quantitative real-time PCR analysis

Total RNA was isolated using TRI reagent (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Total RNA was quantified using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer (NanoDrop Technologies, Wilmington, DE). Reverse transcription was carried out using High capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription kit (Thermo Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. mRNA expression of target genes and the housekeeping gene 36B4 was measured quantitatively using Power Up SYBR master mix (Applied Biosystems, Austin TX). PCR reactions were run in a 96-well format using an ABI 7300HT instrument. Cycle conditions were 50°C 2 min, 95°C 10 min and then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min. Relative gene expression was calculated using the 2<sup>-ΔΔCt</sup> method, which normalized by house keeping gene 36B4.

DNA was prepared using TRI reagent according to the manufacturer's instructions and total DNA concentration was quantified using NanoDrop ND-1000 spectrophotometer. COX II as well as 18S control gene were measured quantitatively using Power Up SYBR master mix. PCR reactions were run in a 96-well format using an ABI 7300HT instrument. Cycle conditions were 50°C 2 min, 95°C 10 min and then 40 cycles of 95°C for 15 s, 60°C for 1 min. Relative DNA content was calculated using the  $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$  method, which normalized by 18S DNA.



#### 4.2.5 Reporter gene assays

Brown preadipocytes seeded in 48-well plates were transiently transfected with PPRE-Luc reporters (PPRE X3-TK-luc was a gift from Bruce Spiegelman, Addgene plasmid # 1015) and  $\beta$ -galactosidase expression plasmid with Lipofectamine 2000 transfection reagent and Plus reagent (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Carlsbad, CA). Twenty-four hours post transfection the cells were then treated with INDO or the vehicle control DMSO for 18 h. The cell lysate was prepared and reporter luciferase and  $\beta$ -galactosidase activities were measured with GloMax Luminometer (Promega, Madison, WI). Relative luciferase activities were normalized by  $\beta$ -galactosidase activities.

#### 4.2.6 Statistical analysis

Data for ORO, mRNA, DNA and reporter experiments are presented as mean  $\pm$  SEM. Measurements were performed in triplicates. Statistical analysis was performed using SigmaPlot 13.0 (Systat Software). One-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons test (Student-Newman-Keuls method) was performed to determine the differences of group mean between the treatment groups. The level of significance was set at *P*<0.05.

#### 4.3. Results

4.3.1 Indomethacin increases brown adipocytes differentiation as measured by Oil Red O stained cell morphology and absorbance.

After 6 days of differentiation, brown preadipocytes show morphological changes that include multilocular lipid formation, consistent with mature brown adipocytes. INDO dosedependently increased lipid accumulation with significant increases at 20 and 50  $\mu$ M (p<0.05) (Fig. 4), demonstrating its positive effects on brown adipocyte differentiation.



# 4.3.2 Indomethacin dose-dependently increases mRNA and protein expression of PGC-1α and UCP-1 in brown adipocytes.

To investigate the effect of INDO on brown adipocyte differentiation, brown preadipocytes were differentiated as described in the materials and methods section. INDO dosedependently increased PPAR $\gamma$  mRNA and reached statistical significance from 5 to 50  $\mu$ M (p<0.05) (Fig. 5). Moreover, INDO dose-dependently increased PGC-1 $\alpha$  mRNA (p<0.05) (Fig. 5). Treatment with INDO at a dose of 10  $\mu$ M or higher resulted in a significant increase in UCP-1 mRNA levels (p<0.05). Additionally, naringenin dose-dependently increased brown marker PRDM16 (p<0.05). Mitochondrial markers Tfam, and Nrf-1 were not significantly increased by INDO (Fig. 5). Furthermore, we show that INDO increased protein expression of PGC-1 $\alpha$  and UCP-1 (Fig. 6), consistent with the changes in mRNA expression.

#### 4.3.3 Indomethacin increases mitochondrial DNA in brown adipocytes.

To provide more evidence for indomethacin's induction of brown adipocyte differentiation, we isolated mitochondrial DNA and measured the ratio of mitochondrial COX II (cytochrome c oxidase subunit II) over 18S nuclear DNA. Significant increases in mitochondrial DNA/nuclear DNA were seen when cells were treated with INDO at a dose of 20  $\mu$ M or 50 $\mu$ M (p<0.001) (Fig. 7).

#### 4.3.4 Indomethacin activates PPRE reporter in brown preadipocytes.

INDO has previously been shown to bind and activate PPARγ. To explore the molecular mechanisms by which INDO promoted brown adipocyte differentiation, the PPAR responsive reporter gene assay (PPRE-Luc) was performed. INDO significantly increased PPAR responsive



luciferase reporter activity at 20  $\mu$ M in brown preadipocytes, suggesting an increase in PPAR $\gamma$  activity (p<0.05) (Fig. 8). Rosiglitazone, a known PPAR $\gamma$  ligand, was used as a positive control.

#### 4.4. Discussion and Conclusions

Increasing functional brown adipose activity has become a novel target for obesity treatment and prevention. We show here that indomethacin, a commonly used cyclooxygenase inhibitor dose-dependently promotes brown adipocyte differentiation, as revealed by increased lipid accumulation, increased expression of brown marker genes and increased mitochondrial biogenesis. We further demonstrate that INDO dose-dependently activates PPAR responsive reporter activities, consistent with a previous reports.<sup>98</sup> These results suggest that INDO promotes brown adipocyte differentiation possibly through activation of PPAR $\gamma$ . More research is needed to determine the role of other transcription factors that bind to the PPRE site such as PPAR $\alpha$ .

To our knowledge, this is the first time to demonstrate that INDO is capable of inducing brown adipocyte differentiation in the absence of dexamethasone and IBMX. PPARγ signaling is considered to be critical for both white and brown adipocyte differentiation.<sup>31</sup> A synthetic PPARγ agonist rosiglitazone has been demonstrated to be a "browning" agent inducing formation of brown-like adipocytes in certain white fat depot.<sup>44</sup> Similarly, the finding that UCP-1 mRNA in inguinal WAT was higher in INDO treated (HF/HS+INDO) mice compared to the controls (HF/HS) suggests that INDO may promote browning in vivo. It was reported that INDO increased UCP-1 expression in the interscapular brown adipose tissue (iBAT) in INDO treated mice (HF/HS+INDO) compared to the controls (HF/HS); however, it was not significant, possibly due to the higher stimulation of UCP-1 mRNA by high fat/high sucrose diet.<sup>16</sup> It has been suggested that the ability of PPARγ agonists to induce brown differentiation and browning



are related to their abilities to induce expression of PGC-1 $\alpha$ .<sup>55, 111</sup> We have shown that INDO dose-dependently increased both mRNA and protein expression of PGC-1 $\alpha$ . Further studies are needed to define the role of PGC-1 $\alpha$  in INDO's effects on brown adipocyte differentiation.

In conclusion, we demonstrate for the first time that INDO, a commonly used NSAID and COX inhibitor, dose-dependently promotes brown adipocyte differentiation in the absence of dexamethasone and IBMX. In light of the effects of INDO on white adipocyte differentiation and other detrimental effects on liver, pancreatic  $\beta$ -cells, and gastric integrity, targeted delivery of INDO to brown fat depot during development may be further explored to increase brown adipose tissue mass/function for obesity treatment and prevention in the future.



### LIST OF REFERENCES



- 1. CDC. Adult Obesity Facts. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/adult.html:2016. Acessed October 30,2016.
- 2. CDC. Childhood Obesity Facts. Available at: http://www.cdc.gov/obesity/data/childhood.html:2016. Acessed October 30,2016.
- **3.** Satterfield MC, Wu G. Brown adipose tissue growth and development: significance and nutritional regulation. *Front Biosci.* 2011;16:1589-1608.
- 4. Cypess A, Lehman S, Williams G, et al. Identification and importance of brown adipose tissue in adult humans. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;360:1509-1517.
- 5. Saito M, Okamatsu-Ogura Y, Matsushita M, et al. High incidence of metabolically active brown adipose tissue in healthy adult humans: effects of cold exposure and adiposity. *Diabetes*. 2009;58:1526-1531.
- 6. van Marken Lichtenbelt WD, Vanhommerig JW, Smulders NM, et al. Cold-activated brown adipose tissue in healthy men. *New England Journal of Medicine*. 2009;360:1500-1508.
- 7. Lo KA, Sun L. Turning WAT into BAT: a review on regulators controlling the browning of white adipocytes. *Biosci Rep.* 2013;33:711-719.
- 8. Lin J, Handschin C, Spiegelman BM. Metabolic control through the PGC-1 family of transcription coactivators. *Cell Metab.* 2005;1:361-370.
- **9.** Cao W, Daniel KW, Robidoux J, et al. p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase is the central regulator of cyclic AMP-dependent transcription of the brown fat uncoupling protein 1 gene. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2004;24:3057-3067.
- **10.** Cao W, Medvedev AV, Daniel KW, Collins S. β-adrenergic activation of p38 MAP kinase in adipocytes cAMP induction of the uncoupling protein 1 (UCP1) gene requires p38 map kinase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2001;276:27077-27082.
- **11.** Rodgers JT, Lerin C, Haas W, Gygi SP, Spiegelman BM, Puigserver P. Nutrient control of glucose homeostasis through a complex of PGC-1α and SIRT1. *Nature*. 2005;434:113-118.
- 12. Sharma M, Akhtar N, Sambhav K, Shete G, K Bansal A, S Sharma S. Emerging Potential of Citrus Flavanones as an Antioxidant in Diabetes and its Complications. *Current topics in medicinal chemistry*. 2015;15:187-195.
- **13.** Mulvihill EE, Burke AC, Huff MW. Citrus Flavonoids as Regulators of Lipoprotein Metabolism and Atherosclerosis. *Annu Rev Nutr.* 2016;36:275-299.
- **14.** Goldwasser J, Cohen PY, Yang E, Balaguer P, Yarmush ML, Nahmias Y. Transcriptional regulation of human and rat hepatic lipid metabolism by the grapefruit flavonoid naringenin: role of PPARalpha, PPARgamma and LXRalpha. *PloS one*. 2010;5:e12399.
- **15.** Hart F, Boardman P. Indomethacin: a new non-steroid anti-inflammatory agent. *British Medical Journal*. 1963.
- **16.** Fjaere E, Aune UL, Roen K, et al. Indomethacin treatment prevents high fat diet-induced obesity and insulin resistance but not glucose intolerance in C57BL/6J mice. *J Biol Chem.* 2014;289:16032-16045.
- 17. Klein J, Fasshauer M, Klein H, Benito M, Kahn C. Novel adipocyte lines from brown fat: a model system for the study of differentiation, energy metabolism, and insulin action. *BioEssays*. 2002;24:382-388.
- 18. Heaton J. The distribution of brown adipose tissue in the human. J Anat. 1972;112:35-39.
- 19. Enerback S. Human brown adipose tissue. *Cell Metab.* 2010;11:248-252.



- **20.** Morrison SF. Central Pathways Controlling Brown Adipose Tissue Thermogenesis. *News in Physiological Sciences*. 2004;19:67-74.
- **21.** Giralt M, Villarroya F. White, brown, beige/brite: different adipose cells for different functions? *Endocrinology*. 2013;154:2992-3000.
- **22.** Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Brown adipose tissue: function and physiological significance. *Physiol Rev.* 2004;84:277-359.
- 23. Seale P, Bjork B, Yang W, et al. PRDM16 controls a brown fat/skeletal muscle switch. *Nature*. 2008;454:961-967.
- 24. Timmons JA, Wennmalm K, Larsson O, et al. Myogenic gene expression signature establishes that brown and white adipocytes originate from distinct cell lineages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2007;104:4401-4406.
- **25.** Wu J, Bostrom P, Sparks LM, et al. Beige adipocytes are a distinct type of thermogenic fat cell in mouse and human. *Cell*. 2012;150:366-376.
- 26. Wu J, Cohen P, Spiegelman BM. Adaptive thermogenesis in adipocytes: is beige the new brown? *Genes Dev.* 2013;27:234-250.
- 27. Inokuma K, Okamatsu-Ogura Y, Omachi A, et al. Indispensable role of mitochondrial UCP1 for antiobesity effect of beta3-adrenergic stimulation. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2006;290:E1014-1021.
- **28.** Sears IB, MacGinnitie MA, Kovacs LG, Graves RA. Differentiation-dependent expression of the brown adipocyte uncoupling protein gene: regulation by peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 1996;16:3410-3419.
- **29.** Kozak U, Kopecky J, Teisinger J, Enerback S, Boyer B, Kozak L. An upstream enhancer regulating brown-fat specific expression of the mitochondrial uncoupling protein gene. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1994;14:59-57.
- **30.** Gregoire FM, SMAS CM, Sul HS. Understanding adipocyte differentiation. *Physiol Rev.* 1998:783-809.
- **31.** Rosen E, Sarraf P, Troy A, et al. PPAR gamma is required for the differentiation of adipose tissue in vivo and in vitro. *Molecular Cell*. 1999;4:611-617.
- **32.** JA B, GL P. Rosiglitazone. *Drugs.* 1999;57:921-930.
- **33.** Kelly L, Vicario P, Thompson G, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors gamma and alpha mediate in vivo regulation of uncoupling protein (UCP-1, UCP-2, UCP-3) gene expression. *Endocrinology*. 1998;139:4920-4927.
- **34.** Puigserver P. A cold-inducible coactivator of nuclear receptors linked to adaptive thermogenesis. *Cell.* 1998;92:829-839.
- **35.** Seale P, Bjork B, Yang W, et al. PRDM16 controls a brown fat/skeletal muscle switch. *Nature*. 2008;454:961-967.
- **36.** Seale P, Kajimura S, Yang W, et al. Transcriptional control of brown fat determination by PRDM16. *Cell Metab.* 2007;6:38-54.
- 37. Hondares E, Rosell M, Díaz-Delfín J, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor α (PPARα) induces PPARγ coactivator 1α (PGC-1α) gene expression and contributes to thermogenic activation of brown fat involement of PRDM16. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 2011;286:43112-43122.
- **38.** Kajimura S, Seale P, Spiegelman BM. Transcriptional control of brown fat development. *Cell Metab.* 2010;11:257-262.



- **39.** Ohno H, Shinoda K, Spiegelman BM, Kajimura S. PPARγ agonists induce a white-tobrown fat conversion through stabilization of PRDM16 protein. *Cell metabolism*. 2012;15:395-404.
- **40.** Park A, Kim WK, Bae KH. Distinction of white, beige and brown adipocytes derived from mesenchymal stem cells. *World J Stem Cells*. 2014;6:33-42.
- 41. Peirce V, Carobbio S, Vidal-Puig A. The different shades of fat. *Nature*. 2014;510:76-83.
- **42.** de Jong JM, Larsson O, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. A stringent validation of mouse adipose tissue identity markers. *Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab.* 2015;308:E1085-1105.
- **43.** Garcia A, Roemmich J, Claycombe K. Evaluation of markers of beige adipocytes in white adipose tissue of the mouse. *Nutr Metab.* 2016;13.
- 44. Petrovic N, Walden TB, Shabalina IG, Timmons JA, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Chronic peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma (PPARgamma) activation of epididymally derived white adipocyte cultures reveals a population of thermogenically competent, UCP1-containing adipocytes molecularly distinct from classic brown adipocytes. *J Biol Chem.* 2010;285:7153-7164.
- **45.** Ruiz-Ojeda FJ, Ruperez AI, Gomez-Llorente C, Gil A, Aguilera CM. Cell Models and Their Application for Studying Adipogenic Differentiation in Relation to Obesity: A Review. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2016;17.
- **46.** Green H, Meuth M. An established pre-adipocyte cell line and its differentiation in culture. *Cell.* 1974;3:127-`133.
- **47.** Poulos SP, Dodson MV, Hausman GJ. Cell line models for differentiation: preadipocytes and adipocytes. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*. 2010;235:1185-1193.
- **48.** Asano H, Kanamori Y, Higurashi S, et al. Induction of Beige-Like Adipocytes in 3T3-L1 Cells. *The Journal of Veterinary Medical Science*. 2014;76:57.
- **49.** Miller C, Yang J-Y, England E, Yin A, Gajjar V, Rayalam S. Isoproterenol Induces Beiging and Thermogenesis in Mature 3T3-L1 Adipocytes. *The FASEB Journal*. 2015;29:LB274.
- **50.** Cawthorn WP, Scheller EL, MacDougald OA. Adipose tissue stem cells meet preadipocyte commitment: going back to the future. *J Lipid Res.* 2012;53:227-246.
- **51.** Park HT, Lee ES, Cheon YP, et al. The relationship between fat depot-specific preadipocyte differentiation and metabolic syndrome in obese women. *Clin Endocrinol (Oxf)*. 2012;76:59-66.
- **52.** Rossmeislová L, Malisova L, Kracmerova J, et al. Weight loss improves adipogenic capacity of human preadipocytes and modulaters their secretory profile. *Diabetes*. 1990;62:1990-1995.
- **53.** Himms-Hagen J, Melnyk A, Zingaretti M, Ceresi E, Barbatelli G, Cinti S. Multiocular fat cells in WAT of CL-316243 treated rats derive directly from white adipocytes. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol.* 2000;279:670-681.
- **54.** Pico C, Bonet M, Palou A. Stimulation of uncoupling protein synthesis in white adipose tissue of mice treated with the beta 3-adrenergic agonist CGP-12177. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* 1998;54:191-195.
- **55.** Wilson-Fritch L, Burkart A, Bell G, et al. Mitochondrial Biogenesis and Remodeling during Adipogenesis and in Response to the Insulin Sensitizer Rosiglitazone. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*. 2003;23:1085-1094.



- **56.** Pardo R, Enguix N, Lasheras J, Feliu JE, Kralli A, Villena JA. Rosiglitazone-induced mitochondrial biogenesis in white adipose tissue is independent of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor gamma coactivator-1alpha. *PLoS One.* 2011;6:e26989.
- **57.** Joo JI, Kim DH, Choi J-W, Yun JW. Proteomic analysis for antiobesity potential of capsaicin on white adipose tissue in rats fed with a high fat diet. *Journal of proteome research*. 2010;9:2977-2987.
- **58.** Baboota RK, Singh DP, Sarma SM, et al. Capsaicin induces "brite" phenotype in differentiating 3T3-L1 preadipocytes. *PLoS One*. 2014;9:e103093.
- **59.** Mercader J, Palou A, Bonet ML. Resveratrol enhances fatty acid oxidation capacity and reduces resistin and Retinol-Binding Protein 4 expression in white adipocytes. *The Journal of nutritional biochemistry*. 2011;22:828-834.
- **60.** Flachs P, Horakova O, Brauner P, et al. Polyunsaturated fatty acids of marine origin upregulate mitochondrial biogenesis and induce  $\beta$ -oxidation in white fat. *Diabetologia*. 2005;48:2365-2375.
- **61.** Oudart H, Groscolas R, Calgari C, et al. Brown fat thermogenesis in rats fed high-fat diets enriched with n-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids. *International journal of obesity*. 1997;21:955-962.
- **62.** Wu Z, Boss O. Targeting PGC-1 alpha to control energy homeostasis. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. 2007;11:1329-1338.
- **63.** Uldry M, Yang W, St-Pierre J, Lin J, Seale P, Spiegelman BM. Complementary action of the PGC-1 coactivators in mitochondrial biogenesis and brown fat differentiation. *Cell Metab.* 2006;3:333-341.
- **64.** Herzig S, Long F, Ulupi S, et al. CREB regulates hepatic gluconeogenesis through the coactivator PGC-1. *Nature*. 2001;413:179-183.
- **65.** Pilegaard H, Saltin B, Neufer PD. Exercise induces transient transcriptional activation of the PGC-1α gene in human skeletal muscle. *The Journal of Physiology*. 2003;546:851-858.
- **66.** Sandri M, Lin J, Handschin C, et al. PGC-1alpha protects skeletal muscle from atrophy by suppressing FoxO3 action and atrophy-specific gene transcription. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. 2006;103:16260-16265.
- **67.** Xu X, Ying Z, Cai M, et al. Exercise ameliorates high-fat diet-induced metabolic and vascular dysfunction, and increases adipocyte progenitor cell population in brown adipose tissue. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* 2011;300:R1115-1125.
- **68.** Puigserver P, Rhee J, Lin J, et al. Cytokine stimulation of energy expenditure through p38 MAP kinase activation of PPAR gamma coactiator-1. *Molecular Cell*. 2001;8:971-982.
- **69.** Handschin. Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor Coactivator 1 Coactivators, Energy Homeostasis, and Metabolism. *Endocrine Reviews*. 2006;27:728-735.
- **70.** Hallberg M, Morganstein DL, Kiskinis E, et al. A functional interaction between RIP140 and PGC-1alpha regulates the expression of the lipid droplet protein CIDEA. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2008;28:6785-6795.
- 71. Ye L, Kleiner S, Wu J, et al. TRPV4 is a regulator of adipose oxidative metabolism, inflammation, and energy homeostasis. *Cell*. 2012;151:96-110.
- 72. Jornayvaz FR, Shulman GI. Regulation of mitochondrial biogenesis. *Essays Biochem*. 2010;47:69-84.



- **73.** Morino K, Petersen KF, Dufour S, et al. Reduced mitochondrial density and increased IRS-1 serine phosphorylation in muscle of insulin-resistant offspring of type 2 diabetic parents. *J Clin Invest.* 2005;115:3587-3593.
- 74. Mootha VK, Lindgren EM, Erickson K, Subramanian A. PGC-1alpha-responsive genes involved in oxidative phosphorylation are coordinately downregulated in human diabetes. *Nature genetics.* 2003;34.
- **75.** Patti M, Butte A, Crunkhorn S. Coordinated reduction of genes of oxidative metabolism in humans with insulin resistance and diabetes: potential role of PGC1 and NRF1. *PNAS*. 2003;100.
- **76.** Suwa M, Egashira T, Nakano H, Sasaki H, Kumagai S. Metformin increases the PGClalpha protein and oxidative enzyme activities possibly via AMPK phosphorylation in skeletal muscle in vivo. *J Appl Physiol (1985)*. 2006;101:1685-1692.
- 77. Assini JM, Mulvihill EE, Burke AC, et al. Naringenin prevents obesity, hepatic steatosis, and glucose intolerance in male mice independent of fibroblast growth factor 21. *Endocrinology*. 2015;156:2087-2102.
- **78.** Assini JM, Mulvihill EE, Sutherland BG, et al. Naringenin prevents cholesterol-induced systemic inflammation, metabolic dysregulation, and atherosclerosis in Ldlr–/– mice. *Journal of lipid research*. 2013;54:711-724.
- **79.** Cho KW, Kim YO, Andrade JE, Burgess JR, Kim YC. Dietary naringenin increases hepatic peroxisome proliferators-activated receptor alpha protein expression and decreases plasma triglyceride and adiposity in rats. *Eur J Nutr.* 2011;50:81-88.
- **80.** Constantin RP, do Nascimento GS, Constantin RP, et al. Citrus flavanones affect hepatic fatty acid oxidation in rats by acting as prooxidant agents. *Biomed Res Int.* 2013;2013:342973.
- **81.** Richard AJ, Amini-Vaughan Z, Ribnicky DM, Stephens JM. Naringenin inhibits adipogenesis and reduces insulin sensitivity and adiponectin expression in adipocytes. *Evid Based Complement Alternat Med.* 2013;2013:549750.
- 82. Alam MA, Subhan N, Rahman MM, Uddin SJ, Reza HM, Sarker SD. Effect of citrus flavonoids, naringin and naringenin, on metabolic syndrome and their mechanisms of action. *Adv Nutr.* 2014;5:404-417.
- **83.** Manach C, Scalbert A, Morand C, Remesy C, Jimenez L. Polyphenols: food sources and bioavailability. *Am J Clin Nutr.* 2004;79:727-747.
- **84.** Croft K. The chemistry and biological effects of flavonoids and phenolic acids. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* 1998;854:435-432.
- **85.** Chun O, Chung S, Song W. Estimated Dietary Flavonoid Intake and Major food sources of U.S. adults. *J Nutr*. 2007;137:1244-1252.
- **86.** Erlund I, Meririnne E, Alfthan G, Aro A. Plasma kinetics and urinary excretion of the flavanones naringenin and hesperetin in humans after ingestion of orange juice and grapefruit juice. *J Nutr.* 2001;131.
- **87.** Kanaze FI, Bounartzi MI, Georgarakis M, Niopas I. Pharmacokinetics of the citrus flavanone aglycones hesperetin and naringenin after single oral administration in human subjects. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2007;61:472-477.
- **88.** Harmon AW, Harp JB. Differential effects of flavonoids on 3T3-L1 adipogenesis and lipolysis. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*. 2001:C807-C813.



- **89.** Horiba T, Nishimura I, Nakai Y, Abe K, Sato R. Naringenin chalcone improves adipocyte functions by enhancing adiponectin production. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* 2010;323:208-214.
- **90.** Mulvihill EE, Allister EM, Sutherland BG, et al. Naringenin prevents dyslipidemia, apolipoprotein B overproduction, and hyperinsulinemia in LDL receptor-null mice with diet-induced insulin resistance. *Diabetes*. 2009;58:2198-2210.
- **91.** Ke JY, Cole RM, Hamad EM, et al. Citrus flavonoid, naringenin, increases locomotor activity and reduces diacylglycerol accumulation in skeletal muscle of obese ovariectomized mice. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* 2016;60:313-324.
- **92.** Ke J-Y, Kliewer KL, Hamad EM, et al. The flavonoid, naringenin, decreases adipose tissue mass and attenuates ovariectomy-associated metabolic disturbances in mice. *Nutrition & metabolism.* 2015;12:1-10.
- **93.** Dow CA, Going SB, Chow HH, Patil BS, Thomson CA. The effects of daily consumption of grapefruit on body weight, lipids, and blood pressure in healthy, overweight adults. *Metabolism.* 2012;61:1026-1035.
- 94. Fujioka K, Greenway F, Sheard J, Ying Y. The effects on grapefruit on weight and insulin resisitance: relationship to metabolic syndrome. *J Med Food.* 2006;9:49-54.
- **95.** Ferreira S, Moncada S, Vane J. Indomethacin and aspirin abolish prostaglandin release from the spleen. *Nature new biology*. 1971;231:237-239.
- **96.** Assini JM, Mulvihill EE, Huff MW. Citrus flavonoids and lipid metabolism. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2013;24:34-40.
- **97.** Williams I. Differentiation of 3T3-L1 fibroblasts to adipocytes the effect of indomethacin, prostaglandin E1 and cyclic amp on the process of differentiation. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1977;77:175-186.
- **98.** Lehmann J, Lenhard J, Oliver B, Ringold G, Kliewer S. Peroxisome proliferatoractivated receptors alpha and gamma are activated by indomethacin and other nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 1997;272:3406-3410.
- **99.** Madsen L, Pedersen LM, Lillefosse HH, et al. UCP1 induction during recruitment of brown adipocytes in white adipose tissue is dependent on cyclooxygenase activity. *PLoS One*. 2010;5:e11391.
- 100. Vegiopoulos A, Muller-Decker K, Strzoda D, et al. Cyclooxygenase-2 controls energy homeostasis in mice by de novo recruitment of brown adipocytes. *Science*. 2010;281:1158-1161.
- **101.** Rotondo D, Davidson J. Prostaglandin and PPAR control of immune cell function. *Immunology*. 2002;105:20-22.
- **102.** Taylor VH, Forhan M, Vigod SN, McIntyre RS, Morrison KM. The impact of obesity on quality of life. *Best Pract Res Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2013;27:139-146.
- **103.** Bonet ML, Oliver P, Palou A. Pharmacological and nutritional agents promoting browning of white adipose tissue. *Biochim Biophys Acta*. 2013;1831:969-985.
- **104.** Petrovic N, Shabalina IG, Timmons JA, Cannon B, Nedergaard J. Thermogenically competent nonadrenergic recruitment in brown preadipocytes by a PPARγ agonist. *American Journal of Physiology-Endocrinology And Metabolism.* 2008;295:E287-E296.
- **105.** Sharp LZ, Shinoda K, Ohno H, et al. Human BAT possesses molecular signatures that resemble beige/brite cells. *PLoS One.* 2012;7:e49452.



- **106.** Sheng B, Wang X, Su B, et al. Impaired mitochondrial biogenesis contributes to mitochondrial dysfunction in Alzheimer's disease. *Journal of Neurochemistry*. 2012;120:419-429.
- **107.** Chow J, Rahman J, Achermann JC, Dattani MT, Rahman S. Mitochondrial disease and endocrine dysfunction. *Nature Reviews Endocrinology*. 2016.
- **108.** NCBI. Rosiglitazone (By mouth). Pub Med Health. Available at: https://http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMHT0012041/?report=details - side effects:2016. Acessed November 5,2016.
- **109.** NCBI. Orlistat (By mouth). Pub Med Health. Available at: https://http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmedhealth/PMHT0012041/?report=details - side effects:2016. Acessed November 5,2016.
- **110.** Styner M, Sen B, Xie Z, Case N, Rubin J. Indomethacin promotes adipogenesis of mesenchymal stem cells through a cyclooxygenase independent mechanism. *J Cell Biochem.* 2010;111:1042-1050.
- **111.** Hondares E, Mora O, Yubero P, et al. Thiazolidinediones and rexinoids induce peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-coactivator (PGC)-1alpha gene transcription: an autoregulatory loop controls PGC-1alpha expression in adipocytes via peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivation. *Endocrinology*. 2006;147:2829-2838.



### APPENDIX



## Figure 1. Effect of naringenin on mRNA expression of thermogenic, beige and brown markers with and without isoproterenol stimulation.

3T3-L1 preadipocytes were induced to differentiate in the presence or absence of increasing doses of naringenin (5, 10, 20  $\mu$ M) for 7 days. On day 7, matured 3T3-L1 adipocytes were treated with isoproterenol (ISO) for 6 hours or the vehicle control DMSO. Target gene expression was normalized by 36B4 and relative fold changes are compared to the DMSO control. (A) mRNA expression without ISO stimulation. (B) mRNA expression with ISO stimulation. Rosiglitazone was used as a positive control. Data= mean± SEM (n=3). \*\*\*, p<0.001; \*\*, p<0.01;\*, p<0.05 compared to the DMSO group.





Figure 1. Continued





**Figure 1. Continued** 





#### Figure 2. Effect of naringenin on PGC-1a and UCP-1 protein expression.

3T3-L1 cells were differentiated with increasing doses of naringenin (5, 10, 20  $\mu$ M) until day 7 when they were treated with isoproterenol for 24 hours. Total cell lysates were prepared and analyzed by western blot. Densitometry was determined using ChemiDocXRS+ imaging system with ImageLab software. ERK1/2 was utilized as a loading control.





# Figure 3. Naringenin increases the ratio of mitochondrial DNA marker CoxII over 18S DNA.

3T3-L1 cells were differentiated for 7 days in the presence or absence of Naringenin (5, 10, 20  $\mu$ M). Total DNA was extracted and mitochondrial DNA content was quantified by the ratio of CoxII to 18S DNA. Relative changes are expressed as fold changes and compared to the DMSO control. Data= mean± SEM (n=3). \*\*, \*\*\*, p<0.01 and p<0.001, respectively, compared to the DMSO group.





Figure 4. Indomethacin dose-dependently induces brown adipocyte differentiation. (A) Oil red O stained cell morphology at day 6 (B) Lipid accumulation measured by oil red O absorbance. Negative control cells were set at fold 1. Data= mean $\pm$  SEM (n=3). Brown preadipocytes were differentiated in the presence or absence of increasing doses of INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M) until day 6. \*\*\*, p<0.001 compared to the DMSO group.





# Figure 5. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases mRNA expression of brown adipocyte marker genes.

Brown preadipocytes were induced to differentiation in the presence or absence of increasing doses of INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M) for 4 days. Target gene expression was normalized by 36B4 and relative fold changes are compared to DMSO control. Data= mean± SEM (n=3). \*\*\*, p<0.001; \*\*, p<0.01;\*, p<0.05 compared to the DMSO group.



www.manaraa.com



## Figure 6. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases PGC-1 $\alpha$ and UCP-1 protein expression.

 $3T_3$ -L1 cells were differentiated in the presence or absence of increasing doses of INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M) until day 4. Total cell lysates were prepared and analyzed using western blot (A). (B) Densitometry was determined using ChemiDocXRS+ imaging system with ImageLab software. ERK1/2 was utilized as a loading control.





## Figure 7. Indomethacin dose-dependently increases ratio of mitochondrial DNA marker CoxII over18s DNA.

Brown preadipocytes were differentiated for 4 days in the presence or absence of INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M). Total DNA was extracted. Mitochondrial DNA content was quantified by the ratio of COXII to 18s ribosomal DNA. Relative changes are expressed as fold changes and compared to the DMSO control. Data= mean± SEM (n=3). \*\*\*, p<0.001 compared to the DMSO group.



Figure 8. Indomethacin activates PPRE-Luc luciferase activity in brown preadipocytes. Brown preadipocytes were transfected with PPRE-Luc plasmid and treated for 18 hours with or without INDO (2, 5, 10, 20, 50  $\mu$ M). Luciferase activity was measured and normalized by  $\beta$ -galactosidase activity. Relative changes are expressed as fold changes and compared to the negative control (-). Data= mean± SEM (n=3). \*, p<0.05 compared to the DMSO group.



Jamie Ann Kearns was born to Sheila Simpson Kearns and Warren Kearns in Torrington, Wyoming where she completed high school. She then attended the University of Wyoming graduating in 2014 earning her Bachelor of Science in Family Consumer Sciences with a concentration in Dietetics. While enrolled she worked as a nutrition aide for UW Dining services and participated in animal research. Upon graduation, she moved to Knoxville, Tennessee to complete a combined Masters/Dietetic Intern program at the University of Tennessee, Knoxville. During the program, she completed her thesis research under Dr. Ling Zhao for the Cellular and Molecular Nutrition concentration. She completed the dietetic internship with a clinical focus at several area hospitals. While at UTK she was also employed as a graduate assistant in the small animal facility. She defended her thesis on November 3<sup>rd</sup>, 2016. She intends to sit for the Commission of Dietetic Registration exam and has already accepted a position as a clinical dietitian at Rapid City Regional Hospital in South Dakota.

